
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 ORLANDO DIVISION 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

  CASE NUMBER: 6:13-CR-150-ORL-36-CEH-KRS 

HUSEIN KERMALI 

 

Defendant. 

                                                       / 

 
 MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE 

 

COMES NOW, the Defendant, Husein Kermali, by and through his undersigned 

attorney, and files this Motion to Suppress Evidence, and specifically evidence alleged to be 

coins and precious metals, financial documents, cellphones and contents thereof, business filings, 

computers and firearms and any other items seized as described on the Inventory attached hereto,   

which was derived from the illegal search of a residence located at 3631 Pine Oak Trail, Sanford, 

FL pursuant to Fed..R.Cr.P. 12(b)3, and as grounds therefore would state: 

FACTS 

In December 2010, the defendant, Husein Kermali (“Husein”) and his brother, Sikander 

(“Sikander”) Kermali commenced a business relationship with Sebastian Oyegun.  The 

fundamentals of the business were that Mr. Oyegun would supply and ship GSA products which 

the Kermali’s would purchase from him.  As detailed in the Master Affidavit (attached hereto as 

Exhibit “A”), the Kermali’s received multiple orders of GSA goods over the ensuing nine 

months.   As it eventuated, Mr. Oyegun was, in fact, stealing these goods from GSA and selling 

them for his own benefit.   

The residence of Husein Kermali (which was ultimately the subject of the search warrant 
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in question) is 3631 Pine Oak Trail, Sanford, FL.  The sole references to  this location in the 

Master Affidavit are as follows:   

1) The majority of the  goods were purchased through NRK Distributors, Inc. (“NRK”).  

As of December 28, 2010, Husein Kermali  was listed as the registered agent of the 

corporation with an address of the searched premises—3631 Pine Oak Trail, Sanford, 

FL.  (see Exhibit A, Master Affidavit at p. 8).  Other purchases were made by Micro 

Trade Distribution, Inc., (“MTD”), an inactive corporation.    The president of MTD 

is Husein Kermali, address 114 Benson Avenue, Elmont, NY  11003.   

2) Once the  goods were received, they were then resold by the Kermali entities on 

EBAY, Craigslist, and TradeKey.com.  The TradeKey website provided the following 

contact information for NRK:  Mr. Husein Kermali (Manager), address 311 Specialty 

Drive, Sanford FL.  (see Exhibit A, Master Affidavit at p. 37).  Notwithstanding that 

this was the address of ‘the warehouse’, the investigation revealed that one of the 

computers used for the resales had a registered IP address of Husein Kermali’s 

residence. This computer was emailed by buyers between December 2010 and 

February 2012 (Exhibit A, p. 33)  

 Several other computer were utilized both to email Oyegun for prospective orders and also to 

resell products.  These computers were IP registered to Sikander Kermali’s residence and also 

the warehouse at 311 Specialty Point Dr., Sanford, FL.   

 The Kermali maintained the warehouse throughout their dealings with Oyegun.   

All shipments from Mr. Oyegun  were delivered to this address.  When meetings were set 

between the parties, they either occurred at a public place, Oyegun’s residence, a carwash 

business (owned by the Kermali’s) or the warehouse. No meetings occurred at the Husein 
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Kermali residence.     

 The search warrant for the Husein Kermali residence is attached hereto as Exhibit 

“B”.  Specifically, the warrant authorizes that searching officials to seize “anything that 

constitutes fruits, evidence and instrumentalities of violations of 18 U.S.C. 2374….”  It then 

continues with a laundry list of inclusive items, including, financial records, customer records, 

real estate records, precious metals, firearm/ammunitions records, employment records, 

electronic communications and shipping records.  The warrant for the residence was signed on 

May 15, 2012 and executed two days later.  The inventory indicates that the searching agents 

seized a substantial amount of coinage, gold, silver and other metals, financial and tax 

documents, computers, business filings and multiple firearms.  (See Inventory attached hereto as 

Exhibit “C”) 

GROUNDS 

1.  The search warrant was overbroad and did not specify the items to be seized. 

2. The search warrant was based upon an affidavit which did not provide probable cause 

that the property which was to be the subject of the search and seizure would be located on the 

premises. In this regard, the supporting affidavit contained information which was either stale or 

which did not provide a ‘nexus’ between the targeted premises and the searched-for items.  

 

3.      The execution of the search warrant was unlawful and constituted an unreasonable search  

in that the searching agents exceeded the scope of the warrant by seizing items not named in the 

warrant; namely, coins and firearms.   

MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

           The search warrant for the residence was a general warrant which failed to ‘particularly 
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descibe’ the things to be seized.  General warrants, allowing “a general, exploratory rummaging 

in a person's belongings,” are prohibited by the requirement of a “ ‘particular description’ of the 

things to be seized.” Andresen v. Maryland,  427 U.S. 463t 480, 96 S.Ct.2737, 2748 (1976) 

(quoting Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 467, 91 S.Ct. 2022, 2038,  29 L.Ed.2d 564 

(1971)).  Attachment ‘B’ of the warrant purports to set forth a “Description of Items to be 

Searched for and Seized”.  It begins with “Anything that constitutes fruits, evidence and 

instrumentalities of violations of 18 U.S.C. 2314 (Interstate Transportation of Stolen Property) 

including….”  There then followed a listing of business and electronic records.  As the preamble 

to Attachment “B” indicates, the list is not exclusive and the agents could thus search and seize 

literally  “anything” which was a “fruit” of Interstate Transportation of Stolen Property.   

          The operative word is “anything”.  Although the Master Affidavit was not attached to  the 

Warrant and was not incorporated by reference, it contained no information about “fruits” of the 

alleged crimes. The agents could therefore seize anything which could have been purchased with 

ill-gotten gains.  Nor did the Warrant limit its instruction to seize “anything” connected to the 

crime of interstate transportation of stolen goods.   There being no guidance or limits on what 

was a “fruit”, the agents could seize ‘anything’ which was purchasable.  This they did.  Jars of 

coins, gold and silver bars, collectible alloys: all were confiscated notwithstanding that there was 

not one iota of evidence that precious metals were ever involved in the entirety of the case.  

      The  “instrumentality” language of the Warrant is likewise unhelpful. Mr. Kermali’s entire 

residence might well be an instrumentality for housing the computer used to email buyers.  The 

precise problem is that it, in the last analysis, it was left to the agents to decide what was, and 

what was not, a “fruit” or “ instrumentality” of the crime.  But in order to prevent a general, 

exploratory search, “nothing is left to the discretion of the officer executing the warrant.’  
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Marron v. United States,  275 U.S. 192, 196, 48 S.Ct. 74, 76 (1927).   In this case, the ‘take 

anything’ language of the Warrant was thus tantamount to a general warrant prohibited by the 

Fourth Amendment.    In U.S. v. Waugneux, 683 F.2d 1343 (11
th

 Cir., 1982), the Eleventh Circuit 

upheld a search warrant The warrant which authorized the seizure of records for  the receipt and 

disbursement of kickback funds.   In doing so, the Court found no violation of  the particularity 

requirements set forth in Marron, supra.  because the warrant was particularized to the kickback 

scheme at hand.  Additionally,  the much more specific affidavit was attached to the warrant and 

was present at the search site for the agents to easily reference, the Court  upheld the warrant.  

Waugneux,  at 1361, n. 6.   Here, unlike in Waugneux, the Affidavit was neither attached to, nor 

incorporated by reference.   

Furthermore, there is nothing in the warrant that limits the ‘anything preamble’ to the 

violations of Interstate Transportation of Stolen Goods delineated in the Master Affidavit.  This 

is a critical distinction.  In Andresen v. Maryland  427 U.S. 463 (1976), the police were 

investigating a real estate fraud involving “Lot 13T”.  They executed a search warrant which 

commanded them to search for records specific to ‘Lot 13T’,  “together with other fruits, 

instrumentalities and evidence of crime at this time unknown.”   The last clause, being in the 

same sentence,  was construed to permit only the seizure of evidence relating to ‘Lot13T’.  

Andresen, @ p. 481.    In the search warrant at hand, there is no such limitation. Thus, the 

warrant does not command the searchers to restrict themselves to stolen GSA goods, and there is 

no language within the warrant that can be transplanted to create such a limitation.   

        These deficiencies are the hallmark of overbreadth.  While the ‘particularity’ requirement is 

relaxed in document-intensive frauds, there is no showing here that there was a voluminous 

underlayment of paper in these alleged crimes.  See e.g. U.S. v. Maali, 346 F.Supp2d 1226 (M.D. 
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Fla. 2004)  The Master Affidavit speaks only of text messages, computer emailings and some 

corporate articles.  In short, there is no probable cause to believe that there is any paper trail, 

much less that this is a document intensive case.. With regard to the Kermali household, there is 

no evidence whatsoever that the probable cause seizures could not have been accomplished with 

the taking of one computer and a cellphone.  As the Master Affidavit makes clear, the 

transactions involving stolen GSA products were painstakingly simple.  Oyegun would receive a 

text message or email of products to order.  He would then deliver the items or ship them to the 

warehouse. If shipped, there would be a shipping order.  The Master Affidavit indicated that 

there were an estimated 100 shipments to the warehouse.  (See Exhibit ‘A” at p. 7)
1
  Put 

differently, there were approximately a hundred emails, texts or shipping records.  This is hardly 

a complex white-collar crimes requiring the assembly of a ‘paper puzzle’ from a large number of 

seemingly innocuous pieces of individual evidence” as envisioned in Wuagneux.  Wuagneux, 683 

F.2d at 1349 (citing Andresen supra at 481.)     

         The Warrant’s generalities are even more pronounced since it does not limit its grasp by 

any time frame, or by entities or authors.  In Maali, this Court recognized that the Fourth 

Amendment was satisfied because “The warrants at issue….are limited as to time frame, as to 

the crimes for which the items are sought, and as to the persons and entities whose records could 

be seized.”  Maali at 1292.       There are no such limits in this Warrant and it is thus overbroad. 

          The Government must demonstrate that there is a probable cause to believing that the 

items specified in the warrant will be present at the location to be searched.  Within the Master 

Affidavit, there is no probable cause to believe that “precious metals” will be located at the 

home.  Likewise, the Master Affidavit is silent to as any proof that real estate records, firearms, 

                                                 
1
 Of course, shipping manifests would not have been connected to the residence since no shipments were received 

there.  
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or shipping documents would be located at the residence.  The Eleventh Circuit has held that  the 

nexus between the objects to be seized and the premises searched can be established from the 

particular circumstances involved and need not rest on direct observation.” United States v. 

Jenkins, 901 F.2d 1075, 1080 (11th Cir.1990).  Nonetheless, there are no circumstances adduced 

in the Master Affidavit which would lead to a belief that anything other than a computer and a 

cellphone would be located within the premises.  

           In the execution of the search, the agents disregarded the language of the warrant and 

thereby transformed the search into a general one.   The execution of a search warrant “must be 

one directed in good faith toward the objects specified in the warrant.”  Gurleski v. U.S. , 405 

F.2d 253, 258 (5
th

 Cir., 1968).   In Wuagneux, supra., the Eleventh Circuit, considered whether 

the search exceeded the scope of the warrant and stated that  “the permissible scope of a search is 

governed by the terms of a warrant ... a search may be as extensive as reasonably required to 

locate the items  described in the warrant.” Id. at 1367.   In the present case, the agents seized 

collector’s coins.  Coinage, however, was not specified within the scope of the warrant.  

Although the warrant does, inexplicably, call for the search and seizure of precious metals, coins 

are not considered to be such within the normal use of the term.  Among the coins seized were 

copper coins—notably, copper is not generally considered a precious metal.  Moreover, and in 

violation of Marron, supra., the Warrant would presumably call upon the agents metallurgical 

background to determine what is and what is not a ‘precious metal’.  In short, the term itself is a 

vaguery.       
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              WHEREFORE,  the defendant, Husein Kermali, prays that the above-stated evidence 

be suppressed.   

 

      /s/Michael H. LaFay______________ 

      Michael H. LaFay, Esquire 

      Florida Bar Number 457728 

      Attorney for the Defendant 

      NeJame Law 

      NeJame, LaFay, Jancha,  

      Ahmed, Barker, Joshi, Moreno, P.A. 

      189 South Orange Avenue, Suite 1800 

      Orlando, Florida 32801 

      Telephone: (407) 245-1232 

      Facsimile: (407) 245-2980  

      E-mail: LaFayM@Nejamelaw.com 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on October 16, 2013, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 

Clerk of the Court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to 

the following: Vincent Chiu, United States Assistant Attorney, Michael D. Dicembre, Esquire 

and to Fritz Scheller, Esquire.  

 

      /s/Michael H. LaFay______________ 

      Michael H. LaFay, Esquire 

      Florida Bar Number 457728 

      Attorney for the Defendant 
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